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UNITED STATES TARIFF COMMISSION

Washington
In the matter of an inveatigation Docket No. 21
with regard to the importation and
domestic sale of furazolidone Section 337

g Tariff Act of 1930, as amended
INTRODUCTION

On March 19, 1968, the Norwich Pharmacal Company of Norwich, New
York 1/ filed & complaint with the Tariff Commission requesting relief
under section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. 1337),
alleging unfair methods of competition and unfair écts in the importa-
tion and sale of the drug, furazolidone. Complainant hag alleged that
Claim 2 of its United States Letters Patent No. 2,742,462 specifically

covers furazolidone, and that the importation and sale of the drug by

numerous respondents have the effect or tendency to destroy or substantially’

injure an efficiently and economically operated industry in the United
States.

The Commission conducted a preliminary inquiry to determine whether a
full investigation was warranted, aﬁd, if so, whether to recommend to
the President that a temporary exclusion order be issued. Notice of the
receipt of the complaint and the initiation of & preliminary inquiry was

published in the Federal Register (33 F.R. 5481). A copy of such notice,

together with a copy of the complaint, was sent to a substantial number of

the respondents alleged to be engaged in unfair methods or acts.

l/ Early in 1969, the Norwich Pharmacal Co. and Morton Infernational,
Inc., merged. The new parent company is known as Morton-Norwich Products,

Inc.



Upon conclusion of its preliminary inquiry the Tariff Commission,
on July 19, 1968, ordered a full investigation and scheduled a hearing
on the matter for September 10, 1968, which was subsequently postponed
to September 30, 1968. Due notice of the investigation and hearing and

of the postponement of the hearing was given in the Federal Register

(33 F.R. 11192 and 33 F.R. 12798-9). Copies of the complaint and of the
notice of investigation and hearing were served on any persons known to
be associated with the importation, sale or use of the imported furazoli-
done. -

At the conclusion of the preliminary ingquiry the Commission was
equally divided on the question of whether to recommend to the President
that he issue a temporary exclusion order to forbid entry of furazolidone
in accordance with the provisions of 19 U.S.C. l337(f). On Aﬁgust 28,
1968, President Johnson requested the Secretary of the Treasury td exclude
furazolidone in accordahce with the provisions of the statute, until a
full investigation was completed. The Department of the Treasury immedi-
ately gave notice of this restriction on importation, in the Federal
‘Register (33 F.R. 12680).

The scheduled public hearing was held September 30 through October U,
1968. Appearances of record were made by the complainant, Norwich Pharma-
cal Company, and respondents: C. L. Jones, Inc. and Excell Poultry Co.
both of Trussville, Alabema, and the Veterinary Corporation of Georgia
from Athens, Georgia. Briefs were submitted by‘attorneys for Norwich
Pharmacal Company and C. L. Jones, Inc. The hearing was reopened on Sep;
tember 5, 1969, for the purpose aof feceiving additional relevant informa-

tion to complete the public recoxrd.

)
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ALLEGED UNFAIR METHODS OF COMPETITION
AND UNFAIR ACTS
Alleged Patent Violation
The patent under consideration is U.S. Patent No. 2,742,462 1/
issued on April 17, 1956, to Nérwich Pharmacal Company, as assignee of
Gabriel Gever (a research scientist in Norwich's employ). Cdmplainant,
Norwich,alleges that claim 2 of this patent specifically covers fura-
zolidone and is being infringed by the importation into, and sale in,
the United States of furazolidone. Claim two ot the patent is stated

as follows: 2/

. N = (S-nitro-2- rurfuryhdene)-3-ammo-2-oxnohdone
repmcmed by the formula:

O'N—’\O u—c EseNeNwee=Cm=Q
\0

COe—Cils

This patent has been involved in 56 infringement suits in the past
5 years, 3/ all instituted by Norwich. No decision in any of the suits
terminated to date has impugned the validity of the patent. There have
been 51 consent and default judgments, 11 temporary restraining orders
and preliminary injunctions enjoining further -acts of alleged iﬁfringe-
ment, one permanent injunction, E/ and 2 cases are still pending judg-
ment. The suits have been brought in 17 different States. Norwich

states in its complaint (p. 12) that "the investigation and litigation

1/ A "composition of matter" patent under 35 U.S.C. Sec. 101 (1964),
which expires in 17 years: April 1973.

g/ The structural formula shown in claim 2 of the patent is the formula
for furazolidone, as shown in the furazolidone monograph on page 172 of
The National Formulary, Twelth Edition.

§/ For a summary of litigation see the listing in Appendix A Which in-
cludes actions brought since the filing date of the 337 complaint.

4/ Norwich Pharmacal Co. v. Chilton, Doc. No. 67-225-F (D.C., C.D., Cal.,
July 31, 1967).
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required for the enforcement of patent 2,742,462 is proliferéting and
becoming very burdensome and expensive. Relief under section 337 of
.the Tariff Act now appears to be the only appropriate remedy."

Two respondents, who made an appearance at the Commission's hearing,
are involvéd in pending litigation of this patent with complaingnt in the
federal district courts. These cases are stlll pending in Georgia and

Alabama vwhere preliminary injunctions have been entered enjoining re-

, 1
spondents in both actions. ‘/ These respondents stated before the

Commission the possibility of existence of tying arrangements between
some products of the Norwich Company and Hess & Clark. 2/ Another
contention of respondents, that of possible misuse of the patent, was
initially raised with the Commission by the Justice Department's Anti-

trust Division.

1/ The Conmmission has obtained the district court records in both the
Alabama litigation involving respondent C. L. Jones, Inc., and the Georgia
case of respondent Veterinary Corp. of Georgla. Arguments primarily re-
lating to patent validity were made by respondent in the Georgla action
which involved multiple briefs and counter motions prior to the court's
granting of complainant's motion for & preliminary injunction. C. L.
Jones, Inc., of Alabama has argued validity questions in litigation as
“well as 1ssues pertaining to Norwich's business activities and patents
within the United States, the company's manner of research, and relation-
ship with its subsidiaries, especially the BEaton Laboratories Division.
This respondent's particular questioning in a recent deposition pertained
to the possibility of tying arrangements between products of the Hess &
Clark Company and the Norwich Company or its Eaton Division.

g/ Hess & Clark is a division of Richardson-Merrell, Inc., and is Nor-
wieh's exclusive licensee and U.S. distributor of furazolidone for use as

a poultry feed additive. Prior to 1960, RMI was known as the Vick Chemical
Company. ‘

2



The patent misuse question involving Norwich was not in issue until
after the issuance of the temporary exclusion order by the President.
On September 30, 1968, the Justice Department addressed a letter to
the Tariff Commission indicéting possible -patent misuse violations by
Norwich. The Commission was informed that the Justice Department was
investigating possible patent misuse by Norwich to determine what
enforcement action, if any, would be appropriéte. Justice felt that
Norwich had misused its patent by dividing the market uses of the patent
product between itself and its licensee as well as creating mutual
royalty-free grant-backs of improvements between itself and its licensee.

The Commission received from the Justice Department a further
letter of April 15, 1969, concerning the misuse issue. Justice in-
formed the Commission that their investigation confirmed their original
belief that the market division of Norwich.and its licensee was in
violation of the Sherman Act and a misuse of Norwich's furazolidone
patent, but that they did not intend to seek any legai action against
Norwich owing to the short time remaining before the expiration of
the licensing agreement. Although Justice is not pursuing sepafate
action against complainant, they expressed the view that a finding of
patent‘misuse by the Tariff Commission should preclude its recommending
to the President the issuance of an exclusion oxder, since a patenteé
who misuses its patent is prevented from gaining relief in the federal

courts against infringement. Justice expressed the view that a patentee



should not be permitted to invoke section 337 to protect its market
positioh when it would not be permitted to enforce its patent in the
courts.

The letters of September 30, 1968 and April 15, 1969, from the
Department of Justice are attached in Appendix B.

Other Alleged Unfair Methods of Competition
and Unfair Acts

In addition_to the patent queStion, other alleged unfair methods
of competition and unfair acts considered by the Commission include
smuggling, fraudulent and false invoicing (invoicing the goods to
fictitious addressees and addresses), mislabeling, deceptive advertising,
conspiracies to import the product fraudulently, “passing off" of the
imported product as that of the complainant, disparagement of the
patentee's goods and business methods, and wanton and malicious inter-

ference and annoyance.
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FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION OF
THE COMMISSION 1/

The Commission finds unfair methods of competition and
unfair acts in the importation and sale‘of furazolidone manu-
faptured in accordance with the claims and specifications of
U.S. Patent No. 2,7h2,462, and of products containing furazoli-
done, the effect or tendency of which is to destroy or substan-
tially injure an industry, efficlently and economically operated,
in the United States, in violation of section 337(a) of the
Tariff Act of 1930.

Accordingly, the Commission recommends that, in accordance
with section 337(e) of the Tariff Aqt of 1930, the President
direct the Secretary of the Treasury to instruct customs officers
to exclude from entry into the United States through April 17,
1973 (the date of expiration of U.S. Patent No. 2,742,462), all
foreign-produced furazolidone made in accordance with the claims
and specifications of U.S. Patent No. 2,7&2,#62, and all products

containing such furazolidone.

}/ Commissioner Thunberg dissents from the findings and recommenda-
tion of the majority. Commissioner Leonard did not participate in
this investigation for the reason that the investigation had been sub-
stantially completed prior to his becoming a member of the Commission.
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CONSIDERATIONS IN SUPPORT OF THE AFYIRMATIVE
FINDINGS OF THE COMMISSION

Statement of Chalrman Sutton and Commissioner Newsom

On the basis of the facts obtained in the Commission's full
investigation, we conclude that a showing of violation of section
337 has been established. The. relevant provision of section 337(a)
of the Tariff Act declares as being unlawful --.

Unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in the
importation of articles into the United States, or in

their sale by the owner, importer, consignee, or agent

of either, the effect or tendency of which is to destroy

or substantially injure an industry, efficiently and eco-

nomically operated, in the United States. . . .

In conformity with the requirements of the above-quoted language
the text which follows identifies (a) the unfair methods and acts
which are involved in the importation and sale of furazolidone,

(b) the domestic industry and its efficient and economical opera-
tion, and (c) the effect or tendency of the unfair methods and acts

to substantially injure the domestic industry.
Unfair Methods and Acts

Furazolidone, the product of concern, is a drug used in com-
bating infectious diseases, primarily in poultry. Its development
was through the research initiative of the compiainant, particularly
the efforts of a chemist in their employ. Some years of testing
were given by the complainant company to establishing the safety
and uses for the chemical in conformity with Federal statutory

and agency requirements.
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In 1956, United States Letters Patenmt No. 2,Th2,462 was issued
to Norwich Pharmacal Company granting it exclusive rights to mamu-
facture, use, and sell the products described in the patemt claims,
for 17 years, in accord with the Constitutién ;/ and Federal statu-

y |

tory provisions.

Violation of patent

Complainant, Norwich, alleges that claim 2 of this patent
spécifically covers furazolidone and is being infringed by the
importation inﬁo, and sale in, the United States of furazolidone.
The importation and domestic sale of a product, which is comparable
to that maede under valid U.S. patemnt rights, have been considered

by the court as an unfeir method or act within the meening of

section 337. In re Von Clemm, 229 F. 24 441, bilk-k5 (1955).

The imported drug has Eeen freguently tested by the>Customs
Service and the Food and Drug Administration laboratories and
found to have the same chemical formmla as that stated in claim 2
of the complainant's patent No. 2,Th2,462, which is the formla
for the chemical, furazolidone, that is now listed in the National
Formulary, an officisl compendium.

Since the imports are.identicel in formula to claim 2 of the
patent, the question of patent validity could arise. However, in

cases under section 337 invoiving a patented article or process,

1/ U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 8.
2/ 35 U.S.C. 154; 35 U.S.C. 271 (1964).
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the United States Court of Customs-and Patent Appeals has repeatedly
held that the validity of the patent may not be questioned by the
Tariff Commission and that.a regularly issued unexpired patent must
be considered valid unless and until a court of competent Jjurisdic-
tion has held otherwise. L This view is supported by 35 U.S.C. 282
(1964) which provides that a "patent shall be presumed valid".

In the past five years, Norwich has brought more than 56 suits
under this patent in some 17 States. 1In none of these suits has
there been a decision impugning the patent's validity. Fifty-one
of the cases have resulted in consent Jjudgments, and one resulted

&/

Thus, a showing has been made of violation of valid patent

in a permanent injunction upholding the patent's validity.

rights, which, as noted above, constitutes an unfair method or act

under section 337.

1/ Frischer & Co., Inc. v. Bakelite Corp., 39 F.2d 24T (1930), cert.
denied, 282 U.S. 852 (1930); In re Orion Co., T1 F.2d 458 (1934); ;2
re Northern Pigment Co., TL F.2d 447 (1934); In re Von Clemm, 229 F.2d4
Ly, LLh-Ls (1955). The court in the Von Clemm case rejected the con-
tention that the Tariff Commission should question the validity of the
patent or patents, but rather concluded that a regularly issued patent
must be considered valid unless and until a court of competent Juris-
diction has held otherwise. The court, in dismissing respondent's
request to delay the 1nvest1gat10n until a proper court determined
patent validity, said there is "no statute which would justify, much
less require, this court to ignore the provisions of section 337,

supra, which we must necessarily regard as requiring timely dlSpOSl—
tion of appeals ar151ng thereunder.'

2/ Norwich Pharmacal Co. v. Chilton, Civil Action No. 67-225-F (C.D.
California, July 31, 1967). In this case, Norwich's motion for summary
Judgment against patent infringement was granted. The court concluded
that the patent was valid, although defendant had not questioned its
validity.
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Patent misuse

Since the impoxrts in‘question conform with the valid Norwich
patent, the next question td be considered 1s the relevancy of
patent misuse to proceedings under section 337. The gquestion is

one of first impression for the Commission. Upon review of the

. case law on the subject of patent misuse, it is our opinion that,

as suggested by the Department of Justice, this doctrine is rele-
vant to section 337 patent-based prodeedings. Howevér,'after a
c#reful examination of thé‘contract between Norwich and its licensee
and of the facts in the puplic record of this 1nvestigatiqn, we
are satisfied that viable ?atent misuQe on the part of Norwich or
its licensee is not established. | |

The concept of patent @1suse, principally designed to promote
feir pléy in the market plﬁée, was first invoked by courts of
eduity. A patentee asserting his patent claims against & possible
infringer was denied his rights if he did not come into court with

"clean hands". Morton Salt Co. v. G. S. Suppiger Co., 314 U.S. 488

(19&2); B. B. Chemical Co. v. Ellis, 3ih U.S. 495 (1942). The

defense of misuse is available to defeat the patentee's rights '

unless and until he purges himself of such misuse. United States

v. Nat'l Gypsum Co., 352 U.S. 457 (1957). With the advent of the

Shermen Act, and later Federal statutes having broad application
in the field of unfair competition, the doctrine of misuse has
become entrenched as a‘principle invoked by the courts in the public

interest. Morton Salt Co. v. G. S. Suppiger Co., 314 U.S. 488, Lok
(1942).
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The Commission, in its investigatory proceedings under section
337, 1s operating in the public interest to assist the President in
unburdening the import tradé of the United States of unfair methods
of competition and unfair pfactices. The doctrine of patent misuse
is identified with the law of unfair competition, and, as such, is
clearly within its competency. It would seemkto follow that the
Commission should be prepared to invoke it in appropriate situa-
tions which may arise in proceedings under section 337.

Two situations come to mind where the Commission might appro-
priately find the patent misuse issue relevant to proceedings under
section 337. One possible situation would be where patent misuse
by a foreign patentee, with or without the aid of the domestic im-
porters, might be regarded as an unfair method or unfair act which
would be the basis for a complainant seeking to invoke section 337
against a foreign patentee. 1In this situation, the public interest
would be protected against those who over-extend their patent monop-
olies through misuse.

A second situation would be one such as that arising in the
present investigation where the complainant, patentee, may be mis-
using his patent. This jurisdiction--which declares as an "unfair"
method or act the importation into the United States or sale of
articles made in accordance with the claims of & duly issued U.S.
patent--is well and firmly established having received both judicial

and legislative approval. 1In a practical, if not a legal sense, an



1

exclusion order issued by the President under section 33T provides
for a‘patentee interested in pursuing the domestic exploitation of
his patent an additional remedy i/ against "infringing" imports, a
remedy more effective than any other remedy avaiiable to private
litigants under the patent laws. The form of relief is equitable
in nature and of benefit only to those who exploit the patent in
the United States, i.e., the patentee or his licensee. An exclu-
sion order is a type of permanent injunction against foreign
"infringers". It would seem that the public interest would not

be served by invoking sanctions which directly aid a patentee who
is misusing his patent.

Prior to Justice Department involvement.in the investigation,
the Commission was not aware of‘the existence of the patenf misuse
issue. However, Justice's letter of September 30, 1968, indicated
their interest in the proceedings and a desire to conduct an inde-
pendent investigation to determine whether Norwich was guilty of
any antitrust violations. Justice sent to the Commission a copy of
the 1955 Norwich-Vick contract emphasizing particular provisions
which they believed 1ndicated patent misuse. Also, Justice pre-
sented case law to the Commlssion indicating the judicial disposi-
tion of the patent misuse issue. Justice agreed to come forward
with the results of 1ts 1nvestigation and any additional information

which the Commission would need in disposing of the misuse problem.

1/ The only remedy in the case of process patents.
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On April 15, 1969, the Commission was informed that Justice
would not separately pursue the Norwich agreement, their reasons
being the early termination'of the agreement and the unlikelihood
of its renewal. Justice, however, expressed the firm conclusion
that Norwich was guilty of patent misuse but furnished no corroborat-
ing facts, such as might have been obtained in their investigation,
nor did they furnish adequate legal support for their conclusion.
Justice, apparently, rested their conclusion solely on the basis of
the Norwich-Vick.contract of 1955.

Turning now to the agreement between Norwich and its licensee,
it is said to involve patent misuse in that it contains: (1) Pro-
visions for a division of market uses whereby the proprietary
veterinary field is exclusively granted to the licensee whilé the
patentee retains the market use in prescriptive veterinary prepara-
tions and human uses of furazolidone and related nitrofuran products;
(2) Provision for royalty-free grant-back of exclusive licensing
to Norwich of improvements in nitrofuran products in Norwich's
flelds of market use, i.e., all fields of use, excluding the ﬁfo-
prietary veterinary field; (3) A provision for royslty-free grant-
back from Norwich to Vick of exclusive use oOf new nitrofuran products
in the proprietary veterinary field. This latter grant allows Vick;
to accept or reject the new product from Norwich. However, if Vick

rejects the new product, Norwich agrees to withhold the product
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from the market. Each of these three areas of possible patent
misuse willl now be examined.

Division of Market Uses.--The Justice Department has asserted

that division of market uses is an example of patent misuse. Al-
though the courts have said that the patent monopoly does not
include: Extension of the patent monopoly to the patentee beyond
the manufacture, sale, or use of the patent by the licensee, Adams
v. Burke, 84 U.S. (17 Wall.) 453 (1873); tying clauses, Baldwin-

Lima Hemilton Corp. v. Tatnall Measuring System Co., 169 ¥. Supp. 1

(B.D. Penn. 1958), aff'd. 268 F.2d4 395 (3d. Cir. 1959), cert.demied,

361 U.S. 894 (1959); price-fixing devices, United States v. Univis

Lens Co., Inc., 316 U.S. 241 (1942); and price-fixing through

refusing to sell to certain classes, United States v. Ethyl Gasoline

Corp., 27 F. Supp. 959 (S.D.N.Y. 1939), aff'd., 309 U.S. 436 (1940);
the courts have given the patentee a right to adopt reasonable res-

trictions upon his licensees. United States v. General Electyic Co.,

272 U.S. 476 (1926).
In the leadlng case on market divisions, the Supreme Court has
interpreted market divisions to be a reasonable restriction by the

patentee upon the licensee. General Talking Pictures Corp. v.

Western Electrie Corp., 305 U.S. 12k (1938). General Talking Pictures,

has been followed by subsequent courts .as a reesonable restriction

by the patentee upon the licensee. Hazeltine Res. v. Admiral Corp.,
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183 F.2d 953 (Tth Cir.), cert. denied, 340 U.8. 896 (1950); Sperry

Prods., Inc. V. Aluminum Co. of America, 171 F. Supp. 901 (N.D.

Ohio 1959), rev'd. in part but aff'd. on this issue, 285 F. 24 911,

927 (6th Cir. 1960).

Despite Justice Department's assertion that market divisions
1s'a form of patent misuse, we are inclined to the view that under
existing case law market division is not a patent misuse.

Grant-Back Provisions of Agreement.--The courts have also upheld

patent improvement grant-backs as long as they are not anti-competi-
tive and do not stifle the incentive for research and improvement

in the patent area. Transparent-Wrap Mach. Corxrp. v. Stokes & Smith

Co., 329 U.S. 637 (1947). If either condition results from the
grant-back, the court will consider the grant-back a patent misuse.
IP makes no differénce whether the grant-back is one which benefits
the patentee or the licensee. If the results of the grant-back are
anti-competitive or stifle research, the courts fegard such pro=-
visions as being a type of patent misuse.

Inasmﬁch as the courts have not reéarded grant~back proviéions
as per se violations, it would seem that a finding of misuse must
be grounded upon facts showing that such provisions in a given case
have operated anti-competitively or so as to stifle research. As
previously indicated, the Commission has before it only the baie
provisions of the Norwich-Vick agreement, with little dr no facts

regarding its operation In practice. Although the grant-back from
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Norwich to Vick appears on its face to raise possible anti-competi-
tive impact in operatiqn in that it obliges Norwich in certain
situations to withhold nitrofuran products from the market, it is
not possible at this time to arrive at a firm conclusion in regard
to the practices involved under either of the grant-back provisions.
Moreover, further investigative effort at this time is not warranted
since, in our opinion, the issue has been rendered moot by the

impending termination of the agreement on December 31, 1969.

Other unfair methods and acts

In addition, evidence was obtained in the Investigation indi-
cating the existence of other unfair methods of competition and
unfair acts, which go hand in hand with the patent violations
because of their design to evade, or at least impede, prosecutions
for patent infringement. These unfair methods or ascts include:
Smuggling, fravdulent and false invqicing (1nvoicing the goods to
fictitious addressees and addresses), mislabeling, deceptive adver-
tising, conspiracies to fraudulently import the product, "passing
off" of the imported product as that of the complainant, disparage-
ment of the patenteeis goods and business methods, and wanton and
maliciousvinterference and annoyance.

Investigations by the Bureau of Customs of violations in the

importation of furazolidone are summarized in Appendix C.
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The Domestic Industry

The Norwich Compeny is the sole U.S. manufacturer of furazoli-
done, and has contracted for its further processing and exclusive
marketing nationally as a poultry feed a&ditive by the Hess & Clark
Diﬁision, which is familiar with, and has a product line and trained
sales force in veterinary medicinel products. These facilities for
manufacture and distribution of furazolidone and products containing
furazolidone constitute the domestic industry. ;/

The investigation discloses that this industry is economically
and efficiently operated. Modern manufacturing équipment and process-
ing methods are used, with sales being made through personal servicing
of the accounts as well as advertising promotions. Both firms are |
highly reputable in their fields. The forward-looking research and
development of the drug and the commercial success in marketing it
for poultry are evident from the multi-million dollar sales level
obtained in its initial year on the market and in succeeding years.

Effect or Tendency of Unfair Methods
and Acts to Injure Industry
The effect or tendency of the unfair methods and acts to sub-

stantially injure an industry is indicated from a loss of sales and

1/ The court in In re Von Clemm, supra, at Lil while holding that a
single company patent owner could be considered an industry, further
stated that, "there is nothing in the statute which requires that an
industry must be of any particular size, or that more than one company
must beninvolved before the protection provided by the statute may be
invoked -
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goodwill, undue harrassment and expense, the inadequacy of other

available remedies leading to the proliferation of suits, and the
extreme measures required to be takgn to compete effectively with
the low-priced imports.

Although the data on imports are incomplete—-owing primarily
to the clandestine nature of a large number of the relevant import
transactions--they do indicate the entry of substantial guantities
of furazolidone imports; the verified imports alone amounting to
the equivalent of 948,000 pounds of 1l percent pre-mix, from 1961
to August 1968. The magnitude of the imports was greatest in the
two fiscal years (1964-65 and 1967-68) when Hess & Clark's sales
of the pre-mix were at their lowest levels. In the months January
through August 1968 sales of domestic furazolidone were at their
lowest ebb while imports attained a record high level.

The exclusive distributor of furazolidone,Hess & Clark Divisiom,
has not only lost sales--which are felt again through the resulting
loss to Norwich in its sales to Hess & Clark--but Hess & Clark also
is experiencing an excessive turnover of sales personnel. Moreover,
it has felt compellqd to undertake advertising and promotional cam-
pailgns specifically aiméd at the low-priced imports, and to make
two 2C percent price reduc%ions (in 1963 and July 1968) on its pre-

mix, resulting in part from import competition.
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The number of importers and sellers of the drug are many, as
indicated by the multiplicity of sults l/ brought by Norwich. The
various-deceptive practices associated with the importation and
sale of furazolidone, such as the naming of‘dummy corporations and
fictitious people in'the records of entry, have contributed to the
difficulty of bringing suit againét the perpetrators of the unfair
acts. Once brought to suit, some individuals have merely changed
thelr business names and resumed importing. The economic incentive
present in the sale of imported furazolidone at prices that under-
sell the domestic producer by as much as half, understandably
resulted in a constant addition of new importers and their usurpa-

tion of the markets.

1/ The court in Frischer & Co., Inc. v. Bakelite Corp., supra, at
260, stated, in effect, that one of the purposes of section 316 (which is
the predecessor to section 337), was to provide an adequate remedy where
none existed under the patent laws:

When . . . merchandise is delivered from customs custody
it may be, and frequently is, distributed throughout the
United States. The difficulties which confront a patentee
seeking to enforce his rights through the courts are prac-
tically insurmountable. He is required to proceed against
each individual dealer selling the infringing articles,
which, of course, would lead to a multiplicity of suits
with little likelihood that all infringing dealers could
be reached. The cost of the numerous suits with the small
amount of damages which may be recovered in any one suit
discourages resort to the courts. Moreover, a decree obtained
against one dealer would have no binding effect upon others,
and by the simple expedient of changing the consignees the
effect of a decree when secured would be nullified. Unless,
therefore, section 316 may be invoked to reach the foreign
articles at the time and place of importation by forbidding
entry into the United States of those articles which upon
the facts in a particular case are found to violate rights
of domestic manufacturers', such domestic manufacturers have

no adequate remedy.
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Conclusion

In the foregoing paragraphs, we have shown the basis for our
finding that a violation of section 337 has been established.
Having so found, it follows that we must recommend to the Presi-
dent that he direct the Secretary of the Treasury to exclude from
entry furazolldone and srticles containing furazolidone during
the ﬁeriod which terminates at the close of April 17, 1973, the

date of the expiration of U.S. Letters Patent No. 2,Th2,462.
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Statement of Commissionexrs Clubb and Mooxe

We concur in the conclusion reached by Chairman Sutton and
Commissioner Newsom that a violation of seci:lon 337 of the Tariff Act of
1930. has been established in this case and that an exclusion order should
be issued. However, we do not agree with their ancillary proposition
that patent misuse is relevant to Section 337 patent-based proceedings.
Moreover, while we agree with the remainder of our colleagues' statement,
we believe certain of respondent's contentions merit a somewhat more
detailed comment.

The facts in this case are clear and are well stated in the
companion opinion. They reveal that the drug furazolidone, which is
patented 1n the United States, is being produced abroad and imported into
the United States without license from the patentee, the Norwich Pharmacal
Company (now Morton-Norwich Products, Inc., and hereinafter referred to
as the complainant). Since the unliéensed foreign producers have no
research costs to recover, they are able for this reason alone to sell at
a much lower price than the complainant, whose research staff worked from

1939 to 1956 to develop furazolidone, Y

1/ Information supplied by the Patent Office indicates that other trading
nations protect their patent holders against unlicensed imports of the
patented article. Among these countries are Norway, Denmark, Sweden
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Afrer bringing many pétent infringement actions .against importers
of furazolidone without halting the illicit trade, complainant has petitioned
the Tariff Commission to recommend to the President that all unlicensed
furazolidone be refused entry into the United Stétes pursuant to section
337 of the Tariff Act. This blanket remedy is obviously much more effec-
tive than that available in the courts where multitudinous patent suits would

be required to accomplish the same result.

1/ Continued:

Finland, France, Germany, The Netherlands, Japan, and Great Britain.
Moreover, a recent decision of the Court of Justice of the EEC has held that
such restrictions on imports do not violate the Treaty of Rome (Parke Davis
& Co. v. Probel Reise, et al., Ct. of Justice, EEC, No. 24/67 (Feb. 1968),
CCH Common Mkt. Reporter § 8054). In that case the Advocate General
stated that unless such imports could be prohibited

..« » Little would be left of the legal utilization monopoly
which is designed to give the inventor an opportunity for equit-
able compensation since unauthorized persons could without
any difficulty supply the entire Common Market from a country
without patent protection, under conditions more favorable than
those available to the inventor himself since they would not
have to bear the same extraordinary development costs as the
patent holder or his licensee. The effects on the economy and .
on patent law would be incalculable.

In the United States section 337 of the Tariff Act is the most
effective remedy in cases involving product patents (see cases cited in Note
3, infra), and the only remedy in cases involving process patents. In re
Amtorg Trading Co., 75 F.2d 826 (1935), cert, denied,296 U.S. 576; 19
U.S.T.C. Ann. Rept. 12-14 (1935); H.R. Rep. No. 1781, 76th Cong., 3rd
Sess. (1940); S. Rep. No. 1903, 76th Cong., 3rd Sess (1940); Pub. L. No.
710, 76th Cong., 3rd Sess. (July 2, 1940); 19 U.S.C. 1337(a) (196h).
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Complainant is entitled to the relief requested if the requirements
of section 337 have been met. In pertinent part section 337 declares unlaw-
ful any unfair method of competition or unfair act in the import trade,
which has a tendency to substantially injure an efficiently and economically
opérated domestic industry. 2/ The interpretation of this Act set out in
earlier decisions of the Courts and the Commission indicate that all
requirements have been met in this case, 3/ but respondent-importers
contend that:

(1) The Commission should suspend its sectioﬁ 337 proceedings

until all federal court litigation relating to patents has been concluded;

2/ Section 337 reads as follows:

Unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in the
importation of articles into the United States, or in their sale
by the owner, importer, consignee, or agent of either, the
effect or tendency of which is to.destroy or substantially
injure an industry, efficiently and economically operated, in
the United States, or to prevent the establishment of such an -
industry, or to restrain or monopolize trade and commerce
in the United States, are declared unlawful, and when found
by the President to exist shall be dealt with, in addition to any
other provisions of law, as hereinafter provided. 19 U.S.C.
§ 1337a (1964). '

3/ In re Von Clemm, 229 F.2d 441 (C.C.P.A. 1955); In re Orion, 71 F.2d:
458 (C.C.P.A. 1934); In re Northern Pigment Co., 71 F.2d 447 (C.C.P.A,
1934); Frischer & Co. v. Bakelite Corp., 39 F.2d 247 (1930).

g
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(25 Patent infringement alone is not an unfair method of
competition and therefore section 337 has not been violated;

(3) Norwich has not been injured to the degree required by the
statute;

(4) Even if Norwich otherwise qualifies for relief, the proceedings
should be dismissed because Norwich has unclean hands, having used its
patent in a scheme which violates the antitrust laws. In this latter conten-
tion the respondents are joined by the Department of Justice.

4/

Each of these points is discussed below. —~

4/ Respondent has made two other contentions which do not merit extended
treatment. Thus it argues that Norwich by itself does not constitute an
"industry" for purposes of section 337, However, the Commission has long
held that in patent cases the "industry" involved is "the industry legally
entitled to manufacture and sell” the patented article., Self-Closing
Containers (Squeeze-Type Coin Purses), U,S.T,C. Inv. No. 337-18 at 8
(1962). Normally this confines the "industry" to the patent holder or that
portion of the patent holder's operations devoted to the production of the
patented product.

In addition, respondent contends that complainant Norwich is not
"efficiently and economically operated, " and therefore does not qualify for
relief under section 337. The thrust of respondent's argument in this .
respect is that, capitalizing on its monopoly, Norwich charges prices for
furazolidone considerably in excess of the cost of production. Respondent
argues that Norwich accordingly is not "efficlently and economically
operated" from the standpoint of the consumer. This argument also is
not new, having been rejected several times in the past. See, In re
Northern Pigment Co., 71 F.2d 447 (C,C,P.A. 1934), and Drive Springs,
U.S.T.C, Inv, No. 337-7 at 6 (1934).
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Suspension of Proceedings

Respondent first argues that the Commission should suspend its
section 337 proceeding until the validity of complainant's patent has been
determined by the federal courts. 5/ This argument has frequently been
made in the past, and at one time appears to have been adopted by the

7/ 8/

Commission. 8/ The Congress —' and the courts —/ implicitly disapproved

5/ Brief for Respondents at 13-4 (September 9, 1968).

6/ For example, in the section of the Commission's Annual Report for
1937 which discusses section 337 cases, the Commission said:

Patent infringement was the principal ground of complaint
and in practically all cases neither the validity nor the scope
of the patents had been adjudicated. In such cases the
Commission has declined to order formal investigations
under section 337, and in two cases principally involving
patents . . . it has dismissed investigations which had been
previously ordered. 21 U.S.T.C. Ann. Rep. 36 (1937).

7/ In reporting on a 1940 amendment to section 337, the Senate Patent
Committee indicated that unadjudicated patents should be covered when it
stated

In the use of the wording "valid United States letters
patent” it is not the intention of the committee to mean that
necessarily the patent should have been declared by the court
to have been valid previously but that it should be an unexpired
patent, and should not be an invalid patent. S. Rep. No. 1903,
76th Cong., 3rd Sess. 4 (1940).

8/ The C.C.P.A. has uniformly held that unexpired patents are to be
treated as valid unless they have been held invalid by a court. In re Orion
Co., 71 F.2d 458, 464-5 (1934); Frischer & Co. v. Bakelite Corp., 39 F.2d
247, 258 (1930). '
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of the practice, but the Commission appears to have continued it anyway. 9/

Finally, in 1955 the matter was squarely put to our reviewing court, the

United States Court of Customs and Patent Appeals, in In re Von Clemm.
The Court ruled that such suspensions were not justified,' stating,

It is urged by Von Clemm that the Tariff Commission
should have refrained from acting in this case and that this
court should also refrain from acting since the questions of

- validity of Linde's patent and infringement thereof by Von
Clemm's stones are involved in a suit now pending between
appellant and Linde in the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York. We are aware of no statute,
however, which would justify, much less require, this court
to ignore the provisions of section 337, supra, which we must
necessarlly regard as requiring timely dispos1t1on of appeals
arising thereunder.

As pointed out in In re Orion Co., supra, any order
which may be issued by the President may be corrected in
the event of a subsequent holding of invalidity of a patent.
Moreover, under section 337, supra, the President may, in
his discretion, provide for entry of the disputed merchandise
under bond pending, inter alia, .final determination of the
issues of validity and infringement. In re Von Clemm, 229
F.2d 441, 445 (C,C.P.A. 1955).

The wisdom of the Court's ruling is revealed by the record in the present
case, Complainant has already brought 56 suits in which its patent has
withstood attack, and resourceful lawyers for impoxrters could no doubt

force many more. If the Commission were to suspend its proceedings until

9/ 40 U.S.T.C. Ann. Rep. 17-8 (1956) and 42 U.S.T,C. Amn. Rep. 30
(1958).
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all such suits had been concluded, the patent would no doubt expire before
the Commissijon got around to acting.

Accordingly, respondent's request to suspend must be denied.

Patent Infringement as an Unfair Method of Competition

Secondly, respondent contends that patent iﬁfringemeht alone does
not amount to a violation of section 337, and therefore section 337 is not
applicable. 10/

Respondent is nc . the first to make this argument. Others, noting
that patent infringement alone is neither "unfair competition” at common
law H-/ nor, apparently, an "unfair method of competition" under the
Federal Trade Commission Act 12/ have argued that the same result

should obtain under section 337. 1-3-/

10/ Brief for Respondents at 6-11 (Sept. 9, 1968); and 2d Brief for Respon-
dents at 17-21 (November 22, 1968).

11/ At first, common law unfair competition applied only to the palming
off of goods of one manufacturer for those of another, thus excluding patent
infringement where no deception is involved. Unit Const. Co. v. Huskey
Mfg. Co., 241 F. 129 (E.D. Pa., 1917). Later the concept of common law
unfair competition was broadened so that it covers practices other than
palming off, but patent infringement is still excluded, apparently because
there is a more specific remedy provided by the patent laws. R. R.
Donnelley & Sons Co. v. Haber, 43 F. Supp. 456 (E.D. N.Y, 1942).

12/ This point was noted by the dissent in Synthetic Star Sapphires,
U.S.T.C. Inv. No. 337-13 at 35 (1954).

We cannot overlook the very important fact that, in the A
nearly 40 years that the Federal Trade Commission has been
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-From its very earliest cases to the present, however, this
Commission has uniformly held that patent infringement by itself is an
unfair method of competition under section 337 despite the fact that a
different result might be reached under statutes governing trade within the
United States. 14/ Until relatively recent times it was argued by some
respondents (and a Commission minority) that this Commission position
had hever been approved by the courts and, therefore, was still open to

question in the Commission. The issue was finally settled, however, in

12/ Continued:

administering statutes dealing with unfair methods of
competition, to our knowledge, that agency has never held
"patent infringement" to be an unfair method of competition.
There can be no doubt that, in all these years, numerous

cases must have arisen in which the Federal Trade Commission
would have had to assert its jurisdiction if patent infringement
were deemed to be an unfair method of competition.

13/ Id. at 34-37 (dissenting opinion), In re Von Clemm, 229 F.2d 441,
445 (C,C.P.A. 1955) (dissenting opinion).

14/ Synthetic Phenolic Resin, U.S.T.C, Inv, No. 316-4 (1927); Coilable
Metal Rules and Holders, U.S.T.C, Inv. No. 337-8 (1935). In this latter
case the Commission said:

The unlicensed imports into the United States of articles
produced according to the terms of United States patents
constitutes an unfair method of competition in violation of
section 337,
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Synthetic Star Sapphires, U.S.T.C. Inv. No. 337-13 (1954), aff'd. sub nom,

In re Von Clemm, 229 F.2d 441 (C.C.P.A. 1955), 15/where both the

Commission majority and the C.C.P.A, majority (on appeal) refused to
adopt the position that something more than patent infringement is required
despite vigorous dissents in both the Commission and the C.C.P,A. Since
then the Commission has uniformly held (without dissent on this issue)

that patent infringement alone is enough. 16/

15/ See casenote 45 Geo. L.J, 113 (1956).

16/ In Self-Closing Containers (Squeeze-Type Coin Purses), U.S.T.C.
Inv. No. 337-18 (1962), the Commission stated:

If an article manufactured in a foreign country is
made in accordance with, embodies, employs, or contains
the invention disclosed in a current United States patent
that has not been held invalid by a court of competent
jurisdiction, it is an unfair method of competition or
unfair act, within the meaning of section 337 of the Tariff
‘Act of 1930, to import such article into the United States
or sell it domestically without license from the registered
owner of the patent. This determination is in accord with
the applicable decisions of the United States Court of
Customs and Patent Appeals. See, In re Von Clemm, 229 F.
2d 441, 443 (1955); In re Orion Co., 71 F.2d 458, 465
(1934); and In re Northern Pigment Co., 71 F.2d 447, 455
(1934). See also, Frischer & Co., Inc. v. Bakelite Corp.,
39 F.2d 247 (1930).
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’fhe reason for treating patent infringement as an unfair method
of competition under section 337, although it is not so regarded under
statutes governing domestic trade, is that, under United States patent law,
the practical circumstances of competition are vastly different when the
infringing producer is foreign rather than domestic. The patent holder
can stop domestic infringing production of his product by bringing an
mfrmgement action against the unlicensed domestic producer. He
cannot stop similar unlicensed production abroad, however, because
United States courts have no jurisdiction over the foreign producer.
Unable to stop the foreign production at its source, the U. S. patentee
must instead find and bring suit against each importer in order to protecf
his patent rights. That this remedy provided by the patent laws is inade-
quate is well illustrated by the instant case where the complainant patent |
holder has brought 56 suits against di&erem importers, and the end is not
in sight, 17/ | |

In order to provide an effective remedy the Commission and the

courts have held patent infringement to be an unfair method of competidon

for purposes of section 337, despite the fact that it might not be characterized

_1_7_/ Moreover, even this inadequate remedy is unavailable to a process
patent holder. See note 1, supra.
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as such under statutes governing domestic commerce where other adequate
remedies are available. No doubt our reviewing court had this thought in
mind when it stated in Von Clemm that the statutory language of section
337
_/_—f_7s broad and inclusive and should not be held to be

limited to acts coming within the technical definition of

unfair methods of competition as applied in some decisions.

The importation of articles may involve questions which

differ materially from any arising in purely domestic

competition, and it is evident from the language used that

Congress intended to allow wide discretion in determining

what practices are to be regarded as fair. .229 F.2d 441,

444 (C.C.P.A. 1955).

Accordingly, it is clear that respondent's contention that patent

infringement is not an unfair method of competition under section 337 must

be re jeéted.

Injury
Thirdly, respondent argues that complainant Norwich has not been
injured to the degree required by section 337, and that therefore no

exclusion order should issue. Section 337 declares that unfair methods

of competition in the import trade are unlawful if they have, inter alia,

"the effect or tendency . . . to destroy or substantially injure an industry

. . » in the United States. . . . Respondent and the dissent herein,
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relying on various minority opinions of this Commission and the C.C.P,A, 18/
argue that the words "substantially injure” require an injury of such
severity as to destroy the industry. Respondent correctly notes that if his .
view of the statute is adopted, it would be fatal to complainant's case here,
because Norwich's furazolidone operations (the "industry" involved here)
is nowhere near being destroyed. Rather, as noted in the dissenting
opinion, it continues to make profits despite widespread infringement of
the patent by importers.

With all due respect to our dissenting colleague, it is clear to us
that this issue was settled long ago, and is no longer open to question at
the Commission level. The rﬁle, supported in substance by the over-
whelming weight of _authority in Commission opinions and implicitly
affirmed by the C.C.P.A;, is that the term "tendency . . . to . . . sub-
stantially injure” in section 337 is satisfied if the unfair method of compe-
tition involvc:d threatens to interfere in any significant way \&ith the ability

of the domestic industry to carry on its business,

18/ Self-Closing Containers (Squeeze-Type Coin Purses), U.S.T.C. Inv,
No. 337-18, at 23 (1962). This view also recelved tacit support from two
members of an equally divided Commission in In-the~-Ear Hearing Aids,
U.S.T.C. Inv, No. 337-20, at 29 (1966), and in In re Von Clemm, 229 F.2d
441, 447 (1955) (dissent), where the dissenting judge said:

From the context, coupled as the phrase is with "to
destroy, it would seem that Congress contemplated a crippling
injury, one which verged on the brink of destruction, rather
than, as here indicated, a mere competitive nuisance.
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This rule was applied by the Commission in early cases such as -

Manila Rope and Bolt Rope, 19/ where the Commission found that low

quality imported rope was being sold in the United States as "manila" in
violation of a recognized United States market practice. The record con-
tained several instances of inability of the domestic producers to compete
with the mislabelled lower priced imported rope, and this was sufficient to
satisfy the injury requirement because:
/I/t is impossible to escape the conclusion that the

importation and sale in this country under the name of

"manila" of rope composed in part of such cheaper

material will work an injury to the domestic manufacturers

who adhere to the trade practice established in the United

States. 20/
Siniilarly, the Commission has held that sufficient injury has been shown
where it was a "widespread practice"” to offer infringing goods for sale under
the domestic producer's trade name. With reference to this practice the
Commission said:

It is obvious that such practice cannot but have the effect

substantially to injure the good will of the domestic manu-

facturer. Synthetic Phenolic Resin, U.S.T.C. Inv. No. 316-4,
at 13 (1927). 21/

19/ Manila Rope and Bolt Rope, U.S.T.C, Inv. No. 316-5 (1927)

20/ Id. at 3.

21/ See also, Cigar Lighters, U.S.T.C. Inv. No. 337-6 at 6 (1933), where
the Commission said:




36

In none éf these cases did the Commission require the complainant to show
that it was on the brink of destruction. Rather, the injury requirement
was met by a showing that the unfair act had a harmful tendency.

The injury test urged by respondent and by the dissent herein

has been implicitly disapproved by our reviewing court in In re Von Clemm,

and that ruling is binding on the Commission. The point was vigorously

argued by dissenting Commissioners (Synthetic Star Sapphires and

Synthetic Rubies, U.S.T.C. Inv. No. 337-13 (1954)),and by the dissenting

judge when that case was appealed (In re Von Clemm, 229 F.2d 441, 447

(C.C,P,A., 1955)), but it did not prevail in either forum. Accordjngly, the
matter having been settled by our reviewing court, it is no longer open to

question at the Commission level.

_2__1_ / Continued:

Due to the nature -of the imported article concerned
the Commission has been unable to ascertain the extent of
imports, but the record does justify a finding that imported
lighters infringing complainant's patent have been offered
for sale and sold at retail in the United States, and that
Japanese manufacturers and exporters have solicited trade
in the United States. The natural and probable effect or
tendency of these solicitations and sales is to render sub-
stantlal injury to the business of complainant and the
Commission formally so finds.
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But the Commission should not adopt such a restrictive injury
test even if it were free to do so. It would be repugnant to both law and
reason to hold that a method of competition is unfair, but that it should be
permitted to continue because, despite the injury it is causing the victim,
he is still able to survive. If such a rule were adopted, it is doubtful that
relief could ever be granted under section 337 becaﬁse rarely will a single
unfair act (e.g., patent infringement, product simulation, trade name
appropriation, etc.) have the effect of destroying an industry. Domestic
producers would, in effect, be denied a remedy foi: thé unfair acts of
foreign producers and importers. The Commission has wisely avoided

such a result.

Patent Misuse

Finally, respondent argues that even if the complaint in this case
otherwise meets the requirements of secfion 337, relief should be denied

1"

because complainant has "unclean hands.” The thrust of this argument is
that complainant has misused its patent by employing it in a way which
violates the antitrust laws. Respondent and the Justice Department allege

that enforcement of the patent would be denied in a federal court, and that

relief under section 337 should similarly be denied by the Commission.
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With all due respect to Chairman Sﬁtton and Cémmissioner
Newsom, who hold a contrary view, it seems to us that whatever the
merits the clean hands doctrine might have in a patent case in the federal
courts, it clearly has no place in a section 337 proceeding before the.
Tariff Commission. There are several reasons for this.

First, Tariff Commission jurisdiction under section 337 is

limited to unfair methods of corhpetition in the import trade. The

Commission has no jurisdiction to rule directly on internal antitrust
matters (such as patent misuse) or other issues unconnected with the
import trade, and it seems to us that it has no competence to make deter-
~minations on such issues wheﬁ they are raised as matters of defense.
Persuasive on this point is the Court of Customs and Patent Appeals’
holding that the Commission cannot rule on the validity of a patent when
that issue is raised as a defense in a s.ection 337 proceeding because.
jurisdiction to determine the validity of patents is lodged in the federal

courts, 22/ A simple extension of this rule requires that the Commission

r_efuse to consider other matters such as domestic antitrust violations

22/ Frischer & Co. v. Bakelite, 39 F.2d 247 (C.C.P.A. 1930). See also,
In re Orion Co. 71 F.2d 458 (C,C.P.A, 1934), and In re Northern Pigment
Co,, 71 F.2d 447 (C,C.P.A. 1934).
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amounting to patent misuse when they are rajsed as a defense hecause
jurisdiction over thesce matters is similarly lodged elsewhere. As in the
case of patent validity, a respondent here will not be deunied an opportunity
to prove his allegations. Rather, he will merely be referred to a forum
which has jurisdiction over them.
Second, we question whether patent misuse or other "clean hands"

| , 23/ :

defenses are applicable in a public proceeding in any event. — We are

not the first agency to face this question. In Republic Steel Corporation v.

NLRB, 107 F.2d 472 (3d Cir. 1939), an employer charged with an unfair
labor practice was ordered to reinstate certain union member employees.
The employer resisted, arguiﬁg that the union members did not come into

court with clean hands and, therefore, should not be reinstated. The court

23/ The Commission has sometimes pointed out that the proceedings
under section 337 are not private contests between individual litigants'as in
a suit at law, but instead are public proceedings designed to establish and
enforce rules of fair competition in the marketplace. Accordingly, the
scope of the full investigation is governed, not by the complaint, but by
the Commission's notice of investigation. Synthetic Phenolic Resin,
U.S.T.C. Inv. No. 337-4 (1927). Nonetheless, the Commission pro-
ceedings are quasi-adversary In the sense that contending parties with
antagonistic positions appear before the Commission, and, accordingly,
some of the trappings of an adversary proceeding have been adopted. For
example, the complaint and answers are circulated to the parties, and
cross-examination is normally permitted at the hearing. Such adversary
type procedures are permitted only to the extent that the Commission feels
that they may bring out useful information, however; they have not been
accorded as a matter of right.
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ruled, however, that the clean hands doctrine is not applicable in a public
proceeding, stating:

Equally untenable is the contention that the strikers are

not entitled to reinstatement because they have not come into
court with clean hands. This principle is not applicable to

a proceeding in which a governmental agency is seeking
enforcement of its order in the public interest. Republic
Steel Corporation v. NLRB, 107 F.2d 472, 479 (3d Cir.
1939). 24/

Accordingly, until otherwise instructed by the Congress or by Court
decision, the Commission, in our judgment, should not consider clean

hands defenses in section 337 proceedings.

Conclusion

In view of the foregoing, we conclude that all of the requireménts
of section 337 have 'beén met--indeed a clearer case could not be found--
and therefore we recommend that the President issue an appropriate |

exclusion order,

24/ To the same effect see NLRB v. Plumbers Union of Nassau County,
Local 457, 299 F.2d 497 (2d Cir. 1962); NLRB v. Pease Oil Co., 279 F.2d
135 (2d Cir. 1960); Eichleay Corp. v. NLRB, 206 F.2d 799 (3d Cir. 1953);

"NLRB v. Remington Rand, Inc., 94 F.2d 862 (2d Cir. 1938); NLRB v.
Carlisle Lumber Co., 99 F.2d 533 (9th Cir. 1938); NLRB v. Hearst, 102
102 F.2d 658 (9th Cir. 1939); Schauffler v. Brewery and Beer Distrib.
Drivers, Helpers and Platform Men, Local 830, 162 F. Supp. 1 (E.D. Pa,
1958). , ‘ :
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CONSIDERATIONS IN SUPPORT OF THE NEGATIVE
FINDINGS OF COMMISSIONER THUNBERG

In the past various /opinions arising from cases under
Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 have stated the criteria
required for 'unfair methods of competition' and '"unfair acts
in the importation of articles' in the United States, 'the effect
or tendency of which is to destroy or substantially injure an
industry, efficiently and economically operated, in the United
States, or to prevent the establishment of such an industry"

to be declared unlawful. In the section 337 In-The-Ear Hearing

Aids case, for example (Investigation No, 337-20, T.C. Pub-
lication 182, July 1966), participating in a joint decision I set
forth‘two requiréments stating the conditions that I believe must
be met before the Commaission can recommend exclusioné.ry
action:

"'"According to the clear. language of the statute, the exist-
ence of 'unfair methods of competition and unfair acts® alone is
not sufficient to warrant excluding the patent-violating imports
from the U.S. market, These acts must in addition cause--or

must in addition be likely to cause--injury so substantial that
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the danger of the destruction of a domestic industry is pres-
ent," Y The record in the present case contains no evidence
of any such danger or any such injury.

This investigation of a complaint filed by the Norwich
Pharmacal Company has failed to disclose that any unfair
trade practice has had the effect or tendency of injuring sub-
stantially the Norwich Pharmacal Company, the sole producer
in the United States of, and the hoider of a U.S, patent upon,
furazolidone, Indeed the investigation has disclosed that far
from being 'substantially injured,' the Norwich Pharmacal
Company, on the basis of its own profit and loés statemen;‘,s
and other data furnished, has been and continues to be an
exceedingly profitable and successful enterprise in all of its
activities, including its chemical division,

Whether a broad or narrow‘ definition of industry is
chosen in this case, there is no evidence of substantial injury

or threat thereof, The domestic industry with which we are -

concerned here may be considered to be as broad as the

1/ In-The-Ear Hearing Aids, Inv. No. 337-20 (1966),

Statement of Commissioners Sutton and Thunberg, p, 28;

see also Self Closing Containers, Inves. No, 337-18 (1962),
dissenting opinion of Chairman Dorfman, pp. 29-30; and
Synthetic Star Sapphires and Synthetic Rubies, Inv, No, 337-13
(1954), dissenting opinion of Commissioners Ryder and
Edminster, pp. 41-42,
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Norwich Pharmacal Company, the complainant and the owner of
the patent at issue, or it may be confined to the one operation
in that company that is concerned with the patent--the chemical
division, Y

A company, opcrated as a whole, develops a product
through revenue derived from other company sources, and in
turn the successfully patented item supplies funds for other
company uses; thus, the industry can justifiably be viewed as
the whole operation of the patent owner, in this case the Norwich
Pharmacal Company. The industry encompassing the entire
Norwich Pharmacal Company has been and continues to be an
exceedingly profitable and a successful enterprise in its aggre-
gate activities, including the chemical division, Indeed, the ,\
company's net income before taxes has increased in each year
since 1963, Overall company sales and profifs increased in

each of the past five years, as has the ratio of net income to

sales for 1962-67,
If the definition of industry should be confined to the

chemical division, where the bulk of the sales results from

1/ In re Von Clemm 229 F 2d 441 at 444 wherein it is stated:
'"There is nothing in the statute which requires that an indus-
try must be of any particular size., . . ."
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furazolidone production, conclusions as to injury would remain
the same., The chemical division experienced an upswing in
profitability in 1966 and 1967, the last two complete years for
which data are available, Y/ Employment indicators for
Norwich's production of furazolid‘one show an increased output
in 1965-67 among the small number of workers engaged in the
manufacture of the drug, Net income increased in 1966 and
1967 as did the ratio of net income to sales, and net profits
per pound of furazolidone sold to Hess & Clark, the major
customer of Norwich, Sales of furazolidone increased in
1966 and 1967 and, although a decrease was shown in 1968
furazolidone sales, it was comparable to the trend in domes-
tic consumption of the drug.,

The Norwich Company in its complaint cited as evi-
dence of injury the increasing expense of litigation necessary

to protect its patent rights, These expenses have indeed

- multiplied over the past five years, In the most recent period

for which data are available such expenses amounted to about

one-tenth of one percent of net income of the company's domestic

1/ The partial 1968 figures that are available to the Commission
are not appropriate for use due to a 3-month strike in the first
quarter of the year.
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operations and to about 1 percent of the net income of the chem -
ical division,

Data available to the Commission indicate that between
each of the periods 1960-63 and 1964-68 the average price of
furazolidone sold by Norwich to Hess & Clark declined by less
than 25 percent; over the same interval the average unit value
of imports of furazolidone declined by a.bout 50 percent, These
data further indicate that Norwich's price to Hess & Clark for
the past three or four years has been several times higher than
average import values. The data thus suggest that the increas - \
ing price differential between domestic and foreign sources of
supply has become sufficiently sizabl'e to make the costs of
importing, including the risk of smuggling penalties, worth-
while, Further, the difference between prices charged by
Norwich in the domestic ma,rk:et and the average unit value
of its exports has also expanded in recent years, making the
re-import of Norwich exports a highly profitable operation,

For the entire period 1961—Se§tember 1968 known imports of
furazolidone amounted to less than 40 percent of exports, For

the period 1964-68, however, known imports exceeded exports
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(omitting the year 1967--an unusual year in the French market), -
The eonclusion is thus inescapable that through its pricing pol-
icies for furazolidone the Norwich Company is providing a sub-
stantial stimulus to imports., This conclusion further raisgs a
question as to whether the Norwich Company, in its furazolidone
pricing policies, is an 'efficiently and economically opefated
industry."

Notwithstanding a resolution of the injury issue, I find
that the Commission's use of its discretionary jurisdiction under
section 337 Y is inappropriate at this time in view of the fact
that the validity of the patent at issue is being litigated in a
district court proceeding, Additionally, the patent misuse issue

which was not fully exposed at the time of the issuance of the

1/ 19 U,S.C. 1337(b) & (c), Section 337 (b) states in part as
follows: 'the Commission is thereby authorized to investigate
any violation thereof on complaint ., . ,"" Thus, it is stated
that the Cormmission is authorized, not directed; the statute
does not command that the Commission shall hold investigations,
The investigatory power is purely discretionary, and failure to
exercise it results in no infringement of legal rights, Thus on a
case by case basis the Commission must discern if the facts
warrant the acceptance of a case or the suspension of it during
its proceedings. In this instance, the Commission discovered
during its investigation the existence of two actively litigated
patent proceedings and the possibility of a Federal suit on the
issue of patent misuse,
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temporary exclusion order, has been found by the Department
of Justice to be of sufficient concern to induce them to advocate
against the issuance> of any exclusion order that would grant
market protection to the patented drug. Yy

During this furazolidone investigation there have been
pending court actions in Georgia and Alabama where the validity
of this patent is in contention, This was not known at the time of
the temporary exclusion order findings. The Commission could
have 2 and, in my view, should have suspended its full investiga-
tion and awaited a Court's decision on this issue of validity, even
though it is not statutorily required to, as stated in the Von Clemm
decision, 3 Thus it is rﬁy view that, before Tariff Commission
or especially Presidential action is taken, the issue of validity
‘should be resolved,

Further, this agency has an obligation not to aid in enforc-

ing a patent, even if valid, when the question of the misuse of

1/ See letter of April 15, 1969, to the Commission from Richard
W. McLaren, Assistant Attorney General, Antitrust Division,
Justice Department, contained in Appendix B,

2/ Under its Rules of Procedure, 19 C,F.R. 201.4b, the
Commission may suspend any rule which is not a statutory require-
ment if there is good and sufficient reason therefor., See also
footnote 1 supra,

3/ In re Von Clemm 229 F 29 441 (1955),
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the patent is at issue. Subsequent to the Commission’s deter-
mination with respect to a temporary exclusion order and full
investigation, the Department of J\}stice informed the Commission
of an investigation pending in its Antitrust Division and pertain-
ing to a contract agreement between complainant, Norwich, and
the Richardson-Merrell Company Y encompassing the patent
product, furazolidone, In its last communication to the Commis-
sioh in reference to this matter the Department of Justice related:

Our investigation has verified our initial
impression that the restrictions in the agree-
ment have been enforced to maintain the alloca-
tion of fields set forth therein, Moreover,
counsel from Norwich and Richardson~-Merrell
do not appear to dispute such fact, On the basis
of our investigation, it is our belief that the
agreement between Norwich and Richardson-
Merrell constitutes a violation of the Sherman
Act and a misuse of Norwich!s furazolidone
patent, ., . . (citations) The fact that the
. « « practices constitute patent misuse which
would normally preclude equitable relief against
infringement in the district courts , ., .
(citations) supports denial of the similar relief
sought under the Tariff Act. 2

While the Department of Justice is not instituting a suit due to.

the short length of time remaining in the agreement and the

1/ Richardson-Merrell, Inc, is the parent firfn of Norwich's
exclusive distributor of furazolidone, Hess & Clark Division,
2/ Supra footnote 1 on page U7,
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possible nonrenewal of it, it is obvious that the Commission
should not proceed with a recommendation for an exclusion
order on a product whose patent is still tainted with possible
misuse and possible antitrust violations.,

Whether the domestic industry is 'efficiently and eco-
homically operated''--a reqﬁisite for a finding of violation of
section 337--is thus on this ground also thrown into question,
The concept of efficient operation certainly does not encom-
pass patent misuse as a buttress to successful competition,
A complainant whose domestic market posivtion rests in part
upoh unlawful restrictive trade practices can in no way be
deemed to be efficiently and economically operated,

In the above discussion I have concluded that there is
no "effect or tendency to destroy or substantially injure'' the
Norwich Pharmacal Company, Based on its own profit figures,
as well as other economic indicators, neither the company as
a whole nor the chemical division shows any evidence of
injury in the meaning of the s.tatute. Additionally, since both
the issues of patent misuse and patent validity are currently

pending in court litigation, any Presidential action excluding
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imports of furazolidone would b